ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Orangeburg County  
Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

RECEIVED

NOV 20 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

EZEKIEL HAYNES,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-000147

\_\_\_\_\_  
PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
\_\_\_\_\_

JOHN H. STROM  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**

**ISSUE PRESENTED**

Whether the PCR court committed reversible error in placing unreasonable limitations, not provided for in the Uniform Post-Conviction Relief Act, on Petitioner's second "re-opened" PCR action by prohibiting him from offering evidence of his mental capacity and competency where those were the dominant issues involved in determining whether his guilty plea was unknowingly, involuntarily, and or unintelligently tendered?

## STATEMENT

On December 8, 2004, the body of Petitioner's fourteen year-old female second cousin ("Minor") was found in a small pond in Orangeburg County, approximately three to four miles outside of Elloree. App. 12, ll. 6-12. The cause of death was asphyxiation. *Id.* The autopsy report also stated that Minor had lacerations on her head and face. *Id.*

Police interviews revealed that Minor had told friends she was going out with Petitioner the night before her body was discovered. App. 13, ll. 1-5. Petitioner, then eighteen years-old, initially denied being with Minor that night. *Id.* at ll. 8-20. On December 9, 2004, Police inspected an abandoned trailer across the street from where Petitioner lived. Inside, law enforcement found a significant amount of Minor's blood and an earring matching one recovered from Minor's body. *Id.*

Police also found a shoe print in the abandoned trailer that "matched" a pair of boots owned by Petitioner. *Id.* Petitioner was arrested. The following day, December 10, 2004, Petitioner gave a statement to police where he admitted to striking Minor with a tire iron and strangling her to death with the cord from a venetian blind. App. 14, ll. 1-8.

### **Indictment and Guilty Plea**

On March 14, 2005, Petitioner was indicted for his cousin's murder. App. 398. On May 17, 2005, Petitioner appeared before the Honorable Perry M. Buckner and pled guilty. App. 1 - 99. Peggy Hinds represented Petitioner and Solicitor David Pascoe represented the State. Pursuant to negotiations, defense counsel and the State had agreed to recommend a sentencing range of thirty to forty years. App. 2, ll. 9-15.

After the factual basis for the plea was provided, Petitioner, at the court's invitation, then made a rambling, at times incoherent, statement expressing remorse for Minor's death, but stating in

the third person that “if I, [Petitioner], could have controlled what happened I would.” App. 18, ll. 16 - 22, ll. 17. The trial court heard from a series of his cousin’s and Petitioner’s family members as well as clergy. App. 22, ll. 25 - 27, ll. 11.

The trial court accepted Petitioner’s guilty plea and sentenced him to forty years imprisonment. App. 27, ll. 15 - 28, ll. 8.

### **First PCR Application and Evidentiary Hearing**

On April 20, 2006, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief alleging that he had entered into an involuntary guilty plea because of the ineffective assistance of counsel. App. 31 - 39. On September 21, 2006, the State filed a return.

On May 19, 2008, an evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable James C. Williams, Jr. App. 47. Glenn Walters represented Petitioner and Assistant Attorney General Lance S. Boozer represented the State. Petitioner, Betty Haynes (Petitioner’s mother), Nathaniel Haynes, Jr. (Petitioner’s brother), and plea counsel all testified.

Petitioner testified that at age sixteen he was in a serious car accident. App. 85, ll. 15 - 53, ll. 21. Petitioner stated that as a result of the accident he experienced memory loss, headaches, and seizures. *Id.* “I couldn’t do things that I used to could do. I couldn’t read, write, spell, things like that.” App. 54, ll. 2-3. Petitioner explained that he told plea counsel about his reduced cognitive abilities many times, but that she did not bring the issue before the court or seek to have Petitioner evaluated. App. 54, ll. 12 - 55, ll. 15.

Petitioner’s mother and brother testified that after the car accident Petitioner went from being a good student looking forward to applying to colleges to flunking out of school. App. 64, ll. 1-25. Petitioner’s mother stated that she had informed plea counsel about Petitioner’s reduced

cognitive abilities, but that plea counsel dismissed her concerns about Petitioner's mental competency. App. 68, ll. 5 - 69, ll. 21.

Plea counsel claimed that, when she first interviewed Petitioner, he denied ever being treated for any mental illness. App. 83, ll. 1-25. Plea counsel averred that she saw no reason to have Petitioner evaluated and that Petitioner was engaged in his defense. *Id.* She also recalled that Petitioner understood the gravity of the murder charge and the terms of the plea deal. App. 84, ll. 1 - 85, ll. 2.

Plea counsel believed that Petitioner did not have any viable defenses and recalled he was unable to provide identifying information on a group of people that he claimed to be with on the night of the murder. App. 85, ll. 3-23. Plea counsel stated that she had Petitioner privately polygraphed twice and that results of both tests indicated deception. App. 86, ll. 1-18. Finally, plea counsel noted that Petitioner's cognitive functions appeared to be significantly worse at the PCR hearing than when she represented him. App. 88, ll. 3-8.

#### ***Pro-Se Rule 59(e) and First Order of Dismissal***

Prior to the order of dismissal being issued, Petitioner submitted a filing on May 27, 2008, titled "Motion to Alter/Amend Pro-se Rule 59(e), SCRPC. Motion to Reconsider per se Applicable S.C. Court Rules." App. 100 - 102. The filing specifically requested that the PCR court take into account the additional grounds raised in Petitioner's PCR application that were not presented at the evidentiary hearing. *Id.* In the filing Petitioner further stated that his appointed PCR attorney had been neglectful in failing to raising these other issues. *Id.*

On October 29, 2008, the PCR court denied Petitioner's application in a written order of dismissal. App. 109 - 115. The court ruled that Petitioner "presented no testimony or evidence

regarding the elements” of an insanity defense. *Id.* The court also determined that plea counsel “had no reason to request a mental evaluation as [Petitioner] exhibited no signs of mental illness. *Id.*

On November 3, 2008, the State filed a Return to Petitioner’s *pro-se* Rule 59(e) motion. App. 103 - 105. On March 4, 2009, the PCR court dismissed Petitioner’s Rule 59(e) motion. App. 106 - 107.

On August 17, 2009, Petitioner filed, through Elizabeth A. Franklin-Best, a petition for writ of certiorari. App. 116 - 123. On November 17, 2009, the State, represented by Assistant Attorney General Mary S. Williams, filed a Return. App. 124 - 133. On June 10, 2010, the South Carolina Supreme Court denied the petition for writ of certiorari. App. 135.

### **Second PCR Application**

On July 13, 2010, Petitioner filed a second application for post-conviction relief alleging, among other grounds, judicial misconduct. App. 136 - 152. On May 17, 2011, the State filed a Return and Motion to Dismiss. App. 153 - 158.

On June 6, 2011, the Honorable Edgar W. Dickson issued a Conditional Order of Dismissal. App. 160 - 164. On December 20, 2011, Judge Dickson issued a Final Order dismissing Petitioner’s second PCR application. App. 166 - 167.

Petitioner’s family retained Tara D. Shurling on September 29, 2011. App. 172. On January 31, 2012, Petitioner, through Counsel Shurling, filed a Reply to the Conditional Order of Dismissal arguing that Petitioner’s second PCR application was justified by the failure of the appointed counsel in his first PCR action to adequately present evidence of Petitioner’s mental illness. App. 168 - 175. On February 2, 2012, Petitioner, again through Counsel Shurling, filed a Rule 59(e) to alter or amend the previously issued final order.

On August 17, 2012, the State filed a Return to Petitioner's January 31, 2012 and February 2, 2012, Rule 59(e) motions. App. 181 - 195. On August 20, 2012, a hearing was held before the Honorable Edgar Dickson. App. 196 - 225. On March 12, 2013, Judge Dickson issued an "Order Re-Opening PCR Action Docketed at 2006-CP-38-0462." App. 226 - 235. Judge Dickson ruled that, in the interests of justice, Petitioner should be permitted to re-litigate his first PCR application.

*Id.*

However, Judge Dickson barred Petitioner from presenting evidence "regarding Petitioner's mental capacity and competency" as the court ruled these issues were adequately addressed during the first PCR. App. 233. Petitioner was not prohibited from addressing other issues regarding how his mental health history may have been used "to rebut or otherwise explain evidence offered against him had he gone to trial." App. 234.

### **Amended PCR Application and Second Evidentiary Hearing**

On September 3, 2013, Petitioner filed an amended PCR application. On February 20, 2014, an evidentiary hearing was held before Judge Dickson. Tara D. Shurling represented Petitioner and Assistant Attorney General Megan H. Jameson represented the State. App. 242 - 355.

Prior to any testimony, the State renewed its objection to the re-opening of Petitioner's PCR action and Counsel Shurling renewed her objection to the limitations placed on argument by the March 12, 2013 Order. App. 249, ll. 9 - 259, ll. 16. Petitioner, Petitioner's mother, and plea counsel all testified.

### **Petitioner's Testimony**

Petitioner stated that the car accident happened a little less than a year before his cousin's murder. App. 268, ll. 6 - 271, ll. 15. Petitioner explained that following the accident he experienced

seizures, mood swings, and significant memory loss. *Id.* Petitioner further testified that plea counsel never explained to him that his statement to police while he was in custody, could have been ruled inadmissible. App. 266, ll. 7 - 267, ll. 17. He also recalled that plea counsel refused to tell the judge about his mental history. App. 273, ll. 1-10.

#### Testimony of Petitioner's Mother

Betty Haynes testified that she provided signed authorization allowing plea counsel access to her son's mental health records. App. 299, ll. 3-16. Ms. Haynes also recounted that Petitioner's behavior had markedly changed after his car accident and that Petitioner experienced significant memory loss. App. 303, ll. 7 - 304, ll. 8.

#### Testimony of Plea Counsel

Plea counsel claimed that she explained to Petitioner that she could challenge the admissibility of his statement to police and that the judge could suppress the statement. App. 307, ll. 5-23. Counsel also alleged that she explained to him that even if the statement was ruled admissible, she could still argue to the jury that it was a false confession. *Id.*

Counsel averred that she was unaware of Petitioner's reduced mental cognition and was told by his family only that he had been diagnosed with a seizure disorder. App. 314, ll. 1-13. When confronted with a "Vocational Rehabilitation Assessment" of Petitioner, counsel conceded that it stated that Petitioner also suffered from "auditory hallucinations." App. 316, ll. 14 - 317, ll. 18. However, she countered that the assessment, which she had access to while representing Petitioner, also contained potentially damaging allegations that Petitioner suffered from "aggressive behavior, assaultive behavior." App. 318, ll. 15-21.

Counsel Shurling then asked plea counsel if she ever considered retaining an expert witness on the subject of false confessions. App. 320, ll. 1-2. Plea counsel admitted that she had not thought to do so, but that “[t]o be truthful with the court. I would probably look into that today.” *Id.* at ll. 3-24. Counsel further admitted that the State’s case against Petitioner was entirely circumstantial, except for Petitioner’s incriminating written statement. App. 321, ll. 3-24.

On cross-examination, plea counsel claimed that Petitioner never told her that the statement to law enforcement was inaccurate or false. App. 327, ll. 2-20. Counsel stated that the written statement was substantially similar to the version of events that he described to her. *Id.* Counsel recalled that Petitioner initially wanted to stand trial, but eventually asked her to initiate plea negotiations. App. 330, ll. 14-24.

Counsel reiterated on cross-examination that she had “no doubt” that Petitioner knew the charges he was facing and their consequences. App. 334, ll. 4-16. She also reiterated that she did not introduce the “Vocational Rehabilitation Assessment” because she did not want the court to see that Petitioner had exhibited hostile and aggressive behavior. App. 335, ll. 3-8.

### **Order of Dismissal and Post-Trial Motions**

On November 4, 2014, the PCR court denied Petitioner’s application by a written Order of Dismissal. App. 356 - 375. The court ruled that all allegations of ineffectiveness regarding plea counsel’s handling of Petitioner’s mental history violated the limitation in the court’s March 12, 2013 Order reopening Petitioner’s PCR action. App. 368 - 370. Further, the court held that counsel was not ineffective for failing to investigate whether Petitioner’s statement to police could be suppressed. App. 371 - 373.

On December 11, 2014, Petitioner filed a Rule 59(e) alleging that Petitioner had followed the limitations of the Order reopening Petitioner's PCR action by not addressing Petitioner's competency to stand trial or his sanity at the time of incident. App. 376 - 381. On December 16, 2014, the State filed a Return. App. 382 - 389. On December 30, 2014, the PCR court denied Petitioner's motion. App. 390 - 395.

## ARGUMENT

**The PCR court committed reversible error in placing unreasonable limitations, not provided for in the Uniform Post-Conviction Relief Act, on Petitioner's second "re-opened" PCR action by prohibiting him from offering evidence of his mental capacity and competency where those were the dominant issues involved in determining whether his guilty plea was unknowingly, involuntarily, and or unintelligently tendered?**

The United States Supreme Court has held that "[g]uilty pleas are no more foolproof than full trials to the court or jury. Accordingly, we take great precautions against unsound results." *Brady v. United States*, 397 U.S. 742, 758 (1970). An "unsound result" occurs when a defendant does not knowingly, voluntarily, or intelligently plead guilty. *See Boykin v. Alabama*, 395 U.S. 238 (1969) (provides that a defendant's decision to plead guilty must be knowingly and voluntarily made); *see also State v. Hazel*, 275 S.C. 392, 271 S.E.2d 602 (1980) (the record must reflect that the defendant freely and intelligently waived his constitutional trial rights and had a full understanding of the consequences of the plea).

Due process prohibits the conviction of a person who is mentally incompetent. *Bishop v. United States*, 350 U.S. 961 (1956). This right cannot be waived by a guilty plea. *Pate v. Robinson*, 383 U.S. 375 (1966). The test of competency to enter a plea is the same as required to stand trial. *State v. Lambert*, 266 S.C. 574, 225 S.E.2d 340 (1976). The accused must have sufficient capability to consult with his lawyer with a reasonable degree of rational understanding and have a rational as well as factual understanding of the proceedings against him. *Carnes v. State*, 275 S.C. 353, 271 S.E.2d 121 (1980).

Furthermore, this Court has held that the difference "between a valid guilty plea and an invalid guilty plea lies in the knowing and voluntary nature of the plea." *Berry v. State*, 381 S.C.

630, 635, 675 S.E.2d 425, 427 (2009). However, “the voluntariness of a guilty plea is not determined by an examination of a specific inquiry made by the sentencing judge alone, but is determined from both the record made at the time of the entry of the guilty plea, and also from the record of the PCR hearing.” *Holden v. State*, 393 S.C. 565, 572-74, 713 S.E.2d 611, 612-15 (2011).

### **Discussion**

In the present case, whether Petitioner’s diminished cognitive functions - manifested by memory loss, violent mood swing, seizures, speech difficulty, and auditory hallucinations - resulted in him unknowingly, involuntarily, or unintelligently pleading guilty, was the all-embracing issue of Petitioner’s re-opened PCR action.

Successive applications are disfavored and the applicant has the burden to establish that any new ground raised in a subsequent application could not have been raised by him in a previous application. *Tilley v. State*, 334 S.C. 24, 28, 511 S.E.2d 689, 691 (1999). However, PCR courts have the authority to allow successive applications where “a ground for relief asserted which for sufficient reason was not asserted or was inadequately raised in the original, supplemental or amended application.” S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-90; *see also Gamble v. State*, 2958 S.C. 176, 178, 379 S.E.2d 118, 119 (1989) (PCR rules “contemplate adjudication on the merits of the original petition, one bite at the apple as it were”).

In the March 12, 2013 Order re-opening Petitioner’s PCR the court stated it wished “to allow Applicant his right to be fully heard on collateral review, his one full bite at the apple.” App. 233. However, the court placed the following crippling limitation on Petitioner’s re-opened PCR:

This Court however, expressly declines to address . . . issues involving the Applicant’s mental capacity. This Court finds that all questions regarding

Applicant's mental capacity and competency were dealt with adequately at the initial hearing. . . . The Court is satisfied with Judge Williams' ruling on Ms. Hinds's investigation into Mr. Haynes's mental health history and her decisions resulting therefrom. Therefore, this Court declines to hear *any* matters regarding the Applicant's mental capacity, competency, or his state of mind.

App. 233 (*emphasis in original*).

The court then created an exception to this prohibition: "Applicant may not raise issues concerning his competence to stand trial or his sanity, he is not prohibited from [addressing] other issues concerning how evidence of his mental health history might have been used to rebut or otherwise explain evidence offered against him had he gone to trial." App. 234. This limitation and the attendant exception acted in concert to effectively deprive Petitioner of "his one full bite at the apple."

Testimony alleging that counsel was ineffective for failing to introduce Petitioner's mental health history in mitigation clearly falls within the exception. App. 368. Likewise, evidence that plea counsel failed to adequately investigate whether Petitioner's impaired cognitive abilities impacted the voluntariness of his statements would also come within the exception. App. 369 - 372. Nevertheless, the Order of Dismissal ruled that these two issues raised by Petitioner violated the "competency to stand trial" subject matter prohibition. App. 233 - 234.

The March 12, 2013 Order prohibited testimony on Petitioner's competency to stand trial. *Id.* Yet, it purported to allow testimony on whether Petitioner's reduced mental capacity prevented him from making a rational evaluation of his chances of success at trial when deciding whether to plead guilty. App. 235. The limitation also ostensibly allowed Petitioner to present evidence that he lacked the mental capacity to voluntarily write a statement to police, but precluded evidence

regarding plea counsel's "investigation into [Petitioner's] mental health history and her decisions resulting therefrom," which necessarily includes plea counsel's determination regarding the likelihood of the written statement being inadmissible. App. 233.