STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

MAR 7 2010

SC SUPREME COURT

CERTIORARI TO ORANGEBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-000147

EZEKIEL HAYNES, SCDC No. 00309200

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON
S.C. Bar No. 100108
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

(App. 31-39). The State filed its Return on September 21, 2006, requesting an evidentiary hearing. (App. 40-45).

On May 19, 2008, an evidentiary hearing was convened at the Orangeburg County Courthouse before the Honorable James C. Williams, Jr. (App. 47-99). Petitioner was present and represented by counsel Walters. The State was represented by Assistant Attorney General Lance Boozer. During the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner testified on his own behalf and presented testimony from his mother, Betty Haynes and his brother Nathaniel Haynes, Jr. (App. 5-80). The State presented testimony from plea counsel Hinds. (App. 81-88). The vast majority of testimony from Petitioner, his mother, and his brother focused on Petitioner's allegedly diminished mental capacity and competency, particularly after a serious car accident when he was sixteen years old. (App. 5-80). Hind's testimony also focused on Petitioner's cognitive abilities. (App. 81-88). Hinds testified she never had any reason to doubt Petitioner's competency. (App. 81-88). Hinds described Petitioner as articulate, attentive, and engaged during their eighteen meetings. (App. 82-84). Hinds also testified she had Petitioner take two polygraph tests and both indicated deception regarding Davis's death. (App. 85-86). When asked on cross-examination, Hinds testified Petitioner appeared "much slower [during the evidentiary hearing]" than when she represented him. (App. 88). After all testimony was taken, Petitioner's counsel argued Petitioner should be granted post-conviction relief based on his lack of competency and diminished mental state. (App. 88-93, 95-97). At the conclusion of the hearing, the post-conviction relief court took the matter under advisement. (App. 98).

Thereafter, prior to the entry of a written Order of Dismissal, Petitioner submitted a *pro se* "Motion to Alter/Amend *pro se* Rule 59(e) SCRPC and Motion to Reconsider, *pro se* applicable S.C. Court Rules" on May 27, 2008, arguing counsel Walters was "neglectful" for failing to fully litigate all his post-conviction relief issues, including:

1. Appeal rights violated;

2. Due process mental evaluation deprived;
3. No investigators, no procuring SLED records;
4. No pre-trial motion filed suppression of evidence include reports, results, see shoe impressions; and
5. See extrinsic fraud upon the Court by the procedures of law violated by the Solicitor in case matters State v Haynes.

(App. 100-02). By written Order dated and filed October 29, 2008², Judge Williams denied and dismissed the application in full, including claims surrounding Petitioner's competency. (App. 109-15). On November 4, 2008, the State filed a Return to Petitioner's *pro se* 59(e) Motion. (App. 103-05). By written Order dated March 4, 2009, Judge Williams dismissed Petitioner's still-pending motion to reconsider. (App. 106-07).

Petitioner appealed the denial of his first post-conviction relief application and submitted a Petition for Writ of Certiorari on August 17, 2009. (App. 116-123). Petitioner's issue presented to this Court regarding his alleged lack of competency and mental capacity and sought for this Court to withdraw his guilty plea. (App. 116-123). The State filed its Return to this Petition on November 19, 2009. (App. 124-134). The South Carolina Supreme Court denied the Petition on June 10, 2010. (App. 135). The Remittitur was sent on June 29, 2010.

Thereafter, on July 13, 2010, Petitioner filed a second application for post-conviction relief (C.A. No. 2010-CP-38-1000), alleging:

1. Judicial Misconduct;
 - a. "The S.C. Supreme Court in the cert for PCR case No. 2006-CP-38-462 engaged in acts of judicial fraud and an abuse of discretion failed to stay the cert pending removing the case, including this case, is petitioned to be removed to the California District Court under 3:08-CU-10-1105-MMC. A Writ of Mandamus for this is pending in the 9th Circuit under 10-71855."
2. "Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendment Violation."
3. "Due Process."
4. "Subject Matter Jurisdiction."

² The Orangeburg County Clerk of Court's stamp on the Order of Dismissal improperly reflects that the order was filed in 1998. The correct year of filing is 2008.

5. “Ineffective Counsel.”

(App. 136-41). The Orangeburg County Clerk of Court did not forward the application to the State until December 3, 2010. (App. 153). On May 17, 2011, the State made its Return and Motion to Dismiss, seeking summary dismissal of the application as successive to his prior post-conviction relief application and filed beyond the statute of limitations. (App. 153-58). On June 6, 2011, the lower court signed a Conditional Order of Dismissal, provisionally dismissing the application but allowing Petitioner twenty days from the date of service to object to the application’s dismissal. (App. 160-64). This Conditional Order of Dismissal was filed on June 16, 2011 and Petitioner was personally served on September 13, 2011. (App. 160-64, 166). After receiving no reply from Petitioner, the lower court signed a Final Order of Dismissal on December 20, 2011; this Final Order of Dismissal was filed on January 9, 2012. (App. 166-67).

On January 31, 2012, despite receiving the filed Final Order of Dismissal, Petitioner, through retained counsel Tara D. Shurling, filed a Reply to the Conditional Order of Dismissal. (App. 168-175). This Reply, like much of Petitioner’s previous allegations, once again focused on his allegedly diminished mental capacity and competency. On February 2, 2012, Petitioner, through his counsel, filed a “Motion to Reconsider/Alter/Amend Final Order Pursuant to Rule 59(e) SCRCF”; in this Motion, Petitioner asked this Court to allow him to proceed to a full merits hearing on his successive application, or in the alternative, re-open his first post-conviction relief action (C.A. No. 2006-CP-38-0462) and allow Petitioner to present testimony and evidence regarding the allegations he raised in his *pro se* 59(e), SCRCF, motion. (App. 178-79). The State made its Return to this motion on August 17, 2012, requesting that the motion be summarily denied and dismissed. (App. 181-87).

A hearing on this Motion was convened on August 20, 2012, at the Orangeburg County Courthouse before the Honorable Edgar W. Dickson. (App. (196-225). Following this hearing, the lower court granted Petitioner's motion and re-opened his initial post-conviction relief action, docket number 2006-CP-38-0462.³ (App. 226-235). In this Order, the lower court granted Petitioner thirty days to file an amended application, but specifically ruled Petitioner could not raise any issues pertaining to his mental competency or any other issue presented in his initial action, finding that these issues were fully addressed and ruled upon in Petitioner's initial post-conviction relief hearing. (App. 226-235). An Order to this effect was signed March 12, 2013. (App. 226-235).

Petitioner filed an amended application on September 3, 2013, alleging:

1. Plea counsel was ineffective for neglecting to introduce evidence during Petitioner's sentencing proceeding concerning the Petitioner's medical history;
2. Plea counsel was ineffective for failing to clarify the Petitioner's mental health history for the sentencing judge when the Petitioner answered the Court's inquiry concerning whether he had a history of mental illness negatively;
3. Plea counsel was ineffective for failing to refute statements made by the prosecutor concerning footwear impressions found at the scene;
4. Plea counsel was ineffective for failing to adequately investigate the circumstances under which Petitioner's statement was given and failing to discuss potential grounds for challenging its admissibility;
5. Plea counsel was ineffective for failing to adequately investigate the degree to which the Petitioner's memory defects and impaired cognitive abilities may have impacted his ability to make a knowing and voluntary statement;
6. Plea counsel was ineffective for failing to advise Petitioner of the procedures that could be employed during a jury trial to challenge the reliability and admissibility of his pre-trial statement;
7. Plea counsel was ineffective for failing to adequately explain to Petitioner that substantive errors of law made during a jury trial could be appealed to a high court if convicted;

³ At the beginning of the evidentiary hearing on February 20, 2014, the lower court consolidated two post-conviction relief actions (C.A. No. 2006-CP-38-0462 and 2010-CP-38-1000), with the surviving case number 2006-CP-38-0462.

8. Plea counsel was ineffective for failing to explain to Petitioner that a challenge to the admissibility of his statement would have to be evaluated by both the trial judge and jury if challenged in a jury trial;
9. Plea counsel was ineffective for failing to advise Petitioner of the ways in which he might challenge his statement to law enforcement based on his medical history;
10. Plea counsel was ineffective for allowing Petitioner to plead guilty without first exploring the possibility that Petitioner's mental deficits had been capitalized by law enforcement to obtain a false confession;
11. Plea counsel was ineffective for allowing Petitioner to plead guilty without adequately advising him of the limited forensic value of the footwear impressions being asserted by the State as evidence of his guilt;
12. Plea counsel was ineffective for allowing Petitioner to make the decision to waive his right to trial by jury without first adequately explaining all forensic evidence and how such evidence could be challenged during a jury trial;
13. Plea counsel was ineffective for failing to adequately advise Petitioner of the fact that an adverse ruling on the admissibility of his statement could be appealed to a high court in the event he was convicted by a jury;
14. Plea counsel was ineffective for failing to petition the court for funding for an independent forensic expert to review the DNA evidence;
15. Plea counsel was ineffective for misleading Petitioner of the evidentiary value of the forensic evidence related to his shoes;
16. Plea counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate the possible application of the a lesser included offense to the facts in Petitioner's case;
17. Plea counsel was ineffective for failing to advise Petitioner on the law of lesser included offenses and possible application to his case; and
18. Plea counsel was ineffective for failing to petition the court for funding to hire an expert witness on false confessions.

(App. 236-39).

A hearing on these allegations was convened on February 20, 2014, at the Calhoun County Courthouse. (App. 242-355). Petitioner was present and represented by Tara D. Shurling, Esquire. The State was represented by Assistant Attorney General Megan Harrigan Jameson of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office. At the beginning of the hearing, the State renewed its objections to the lower court's ruling on Petitioner's 59(e), SCRCF, reopening Petitioner's original 2006 post-conviction relief action. After listening to argument and reply, the lower court

denied the State's motion. Additionally, the State moved to dismiss allegations 1, 2, 5, 9, and 10 of Petitioner's amended application, as in direct violation of this Court's oral and written ruling that this Court would not address any issues regarding Counsel's representation in regards to Petitioner's mental health, competency, or state of mind based on the court's previous ruling that it was satisfied with the original post-conviction relief court's rulings as to plea counsel's investigation into Petitioner's mental health history and any decisions made in reference to his mental health or competency. The lower court took the State's motion under advisement, but allowed Petitioner to delve into these issues at the evidentiary hearing. Petitioner testified on his own behalf and presented testimony from his mother, Betty Haynes, and plea counsel. At the conclusion of the hearing, the lower court took the matter under advisement. (App. 352-53).

After a review of all materials and testimony presented, the lower court denied and dismissed Petitioner's amended application by written order signed November 5, 2014, and filed on November 14, 2014. (App. 356-375). In its Order, the lower court granted the State's motion to dismiss the allegations pertaining to Petitioner's mental capacity or competency, finding them to be in violation of its prior ruling. However, because those allegations were fully presented and litigated at the evidentiary hearing, the lower court addressed and denied each allegation in its Order of Dismissal. Thereafter, Petitioner filed a "Motion to Reconsider/Alter/Amend Final Order Pursuant to Rule 59(E) SCRCF" on December 11, 2014. The State filed its Return to this motion on December 16, 2014. (App. 382-88). The lower court issued an order denying this motion on December 30, 2014; this order was filed January 2, 2015. (App. 390-95).

Petitioner filed a Notice of Appeal on January 22, 2015. Petitioner filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari and Appendix on November 20, 2015. This Return follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The post-conviction relief court's findings of fact and conclusions of law are afforded great deference on appellate review. Caprood v. State, 338 S.C. 103, 109, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000). The proper standard of review of a post-conviction relief decision is whether “*any* evidence of probative value” exists to sustain the lower court's findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 119, 386 S.E.2d 624, 626 (1989) (emphasis added). The reviewing court will affirm if there is any evidence to support the post-conviction relief court's findings. Moore v. State, 399 S.C. 641, 646, 732 S.E.2d 871, 873 (2012). The reviewing court will reverse the post-conviction relief court's findings if controlled by an error of law. Suber v. State, 371 S.C. 554, 558-59, 640 S.E.2d 884, 886 (2007).

An applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in his or her application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Where the application alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, he or she must prove that “counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Butler, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813. The proper measure of performance is whether an attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Courts presume counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Strickland, 466 U.S. 668. An applicant must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. Cherry, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624.

Reviewing courts apply a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel and both prongs must be established by an applicant to receive relief. Strickland, 466 U.S. 668. First, an applicant must prove counsel's performance was deficient.

Under this prong, the court measures an attorney's performance by its "reasonableness under professional norms." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625, citing Strickland, 466 U.S. 668. Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. With respect to guilty plea counsel, the applicant must show there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's alleged errors, he would not have pled guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52 (1985).

"A defendant who enters a plea on the advice of counsel may only attack the voluntary and intelligent character of a plea by showing that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the defendant would not have pled guilty, but would have insisted on going to trial." Holden v. State, 393 S.C. 565, 572, 713 S.E.2d 611, 615 (2011), citing Rolen v. State, 384 S.C. 409, 413, 683 S.E.2d 471, 474 (2009).

Additionally, successive applications for post-conviction relief are disfavored. Land v. State, 274 S.C. 243, 262 S.E.2d 735 (1980). S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-90 (1985) states:

All grounds for relief available to an applicant under this chapter must be raised in his original, supplemental or amended application. Any ground finally adjudicated or not so raised, or knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently waived in the proceeding that resulted in the conviction or sentence, or in any other proceeding the applicant has taken to secure relief, may not be the basis for a subsequent application, unless the court finds a ground for relief asserted which, for sufficient reason, was not asserted or was inadequately raised in the original, supplemental or amended application.

Under this statute, successive post-conviction relief applications are forbidden unless an applicant can point to a “sufficient reason” why new grounds for relief were not raised or were not properly raised in previous applications. Aice v. State, 305 S.C. 448, 409 S.E.2d 392 (1991). Any new ground raised in a subsequent application is limited to those grounds that “could not have been raised . . . in the previous application.” Id., 305 S.C. at 450, 409 S.E.2d at 394. If an applicant could have raised these allegations in a previous application, then he or she may not raise those grounds in successive applications. Id. An applicant bears the burden of showing that the allegations could not have been raised previously. Land, 274 S.C. 243, 262 S.E.2d 735 (1980).

ARGUMENT

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